THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 02 2019

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Cynthia Graham Howe, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2018-001590

Andrew Waldo; Jané Zheng; and SC Coast Properties, LLC d/b/a
Keller Williams Realty Respondents,

v.

Michael Cousins; Founders Five, LLC d/b/a Sperry Van Ness Founders
Group; and South Carolina Association of REALTORS® Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SOUTH CAROLINA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®

Marcus A. Manos, SC Bar #011876
Christopher R. Hampton, SC Bar #102262
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the reviewing court below err in vacating the arbitration award and substituting its own judgment for that of the arbiters in violation of the contract for arbitration between the arbitrating parties and applicable federal and state law?
- II. Did the reviewing court below err by finding that not applying a real estate statute protecting clients of REALTORS® by requiring the client to sign any commission agreement in an arbitration between REALTORS® only who had exchanged written email regarding a sub-agency and commission and had a course of dealing where a commission had been split in a prior, very similar transaction met the extraordinary standard of a manifest disregard of the law?
- III. Did the reviewing court below err in finding an order in related Circuit Court litigation against the purchaser of the real estate, barred the two REALTORS® whose claims against each other were dismissed from the related case to go to arbitration, from reaching a different result in that arbitration?
- IV. Did the reviewing court below err by requiring a detailed judgment with findings of fact and conclusions of law from the arbiters when the rules of the National Association of REALTORS® applied by the South Carolina Association of REALTORS® and contractually agreed to by the arbitrating parties provided for a simple declaration of the prevailing party and amount of judgment, if any, and forbade detailed judgements?
- V. Did the reviewing court below err by requiring the arbiters to allow a court reporter and transcript of the procedural review arbitration when the rules of the National Association of REALTORS® applied by the South Carolina Association of REALTORS® and contractually agreed to by the arbitrating parties forbid transcripts of the arbitration proceedings?
- VI. Did the reviewing court below err in applying the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act rather than the Federal Arbitration Act to the contractual arbitration provision between two REALTORS® who agreed to arbitrate all commission disputes, who worked for brokerages with national affiliations, involving an out-of-state purchaser, and whose activities involve interstate/international communication and commerce, where the dispute only involves the commission and not title to or right to use the real estate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal seeking to reinstate and enforce an arbitral award that was vacated by the court below. Respondents Andrew Waldo and Jane Zheng are real estate brokers. Respondent Zheng works at Respondent SC Coast Properties, LLC d/b/a Keller Williams Realty, a real estate brokerage firm. Appellant Michael Cousins is a real estate broker. Appellant Founders Five, LLC d/b/a Sperry Van Ness Founders Group is Appellant Cousins's brokerage firm.

On September 28, 2015, Respondent Waldo and Appellant Cousins agreed to submit a dispute regarding a commission to binding arbitration before Appellant South Carolina Association of REALTORS® ("Association"). The Association found in favor of Appellant Cousins. [R. p. 18]. On March 1, 2016, Respondents appealed the Award of Arbitrators. [R. pp. 69-71]. After the parties briefed the issues and argued at a hearing on June 21, 2017, the court below vacated the Arbitral Award on August 16, 2018. [R. pp. 37-57]. The Association appeals the order of the court below vacating the Arbitral Award to defend the overall fairness, due process, and efficiency of the procedure it uses to resolve disputes between REALTORS®. The Association served its Notice of Appeal on counsel of record on September 4, 2018.

FACTS

Respondent Waldo ("Waldo") submitted an application to the Coastal Carolinas Association of REALTORS® [R. p. 387, lines 5-8; and R. pp. 389-391] and became a member of that association on August 15, 2014. Pursuant to this agreement, Waldo agreed to abide by the Rules, Regulations, and Code of Ethics of the National Association of REALTORS®, the South Carolina Association of REALTORS®, and the Coastal Carolinas Association of REALTORS®. [R. p. 387, lines 5-8; R. pp. 389-391; R. p. 387, lines 9-11; R. pp. 393-395; R. p. 387, lines 12-14; and R. pp. 397-399]. The NAR Code of Ethics requires arbitration between REALTORS® in any dispute arising out of their real-estate practice. [R. p. 371, lines 1-2; and R. pp. 365-367]. Likewise, the Bylaws and Rules of both the Association and the Coastal Carolinas Association require the same. [R. p. 371, lines 3-5; and R. pp. 374-377].

Respondent Waldo and Appellant Cousins dispute whether a commission was due on certain real-estate transactions involving golf courses. Cousins's brokerage firm originally sued Waldo's brokerage firm, along with several property sellers, in the case styled Founders Five, LLC v. The Real Estate Company et al., Case No. 2015-CP-26-2066. Although he now attacks the arbitration award, Waldo demanded in 2015 that the parties arbitrate their dispute and he initiated proceedings with the Association. [R. pp. 64-65]. Although Cousins and Waldo agreed to carve out their claims and arbitrate them, Cousins's claims against the sellers of the property remained in the circuit court. On January 11, 2016, the circuit court dismissed Cousins's claims against National Golf Management, LLC on the basis that Cousins, as broker, did not have a written agreement with National Golf Management, LLC, as seller. [R. pp. 14-17].

The South Carolina Association of REALTORS®'s Constitution and Bylaws states that disputes where two listing brokers claim entitlement to compensation may be submitted to arbitration and that the arbitration of disputes shall be governed by the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of the National Association of REALTORS®. [R. pp. 375-376]. Waldo initiated an arbitration before the Association seeking a determination that the commission need not be split with Cousins. [R. p. 371, lines 6-10; and R. pp. 64-65]. The agreement between Waldo, Cousins, and the three Associations requires mandatory arbitration and is enforceable under both the Federal Arbitration Act and the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. [R. pp. 393-395; R. p. 397-399; R. pp. 365-367; and R. pp. 374-377]. Thus, Waldo voluntarily submitted to the arbitration process by filing his request for arbitration on September 28, 2015. [R. p. 371, lines 6-9; and R. pp. 64-65]. At the conclusion of the initial arbitration hearing, Waldo admitted that the hearing had been fair and that he had an adequate opportunity to testify, present evidence and witnesses, and conduct cross-examination. [R. p. 409, line 13 - p. 410, line 8]. The arbiters awarded Cousins one-half of the commission paid, totaling \$250,000. [R. p. 18].

At Waldo's request, the Association scheduled an appellate review of the current arbitration decision from March 30, 2016. [R. p. 371, lines 10-14; R. pp. 67-68 (with referenced attachments at R. pp. 14-18); and R. p. 379]. Respondent Waldo requested a continuance of the review hearing to a later date, which was rescheduled to April 18, 2016, and again rescheduled to May 2, 2016 at the request of the parties to the arbitration. [R. pp. 381, 383, and 385]. On May 2, 2016, the Procedural Review Hearing Tribunal affirmed the award, concluding the arbitration process. [R. p. 19].

The contract of arbitration between Waldo, Cousins, and the three associations requires that arbitration awards only contain a simple statement of the prevailing party and any amount owed. [R. p. 622]. Respondent Waldo requested a court reporter at the limited procedural review. The contract of arbitration between Waldo, Cousins, and the three associations forbids any record of the limited procedural review proceedings. [R. p. 462]. Respondent Waldo acted as a broker on behalf of Keller Williams Realty, Inc., a national real estate brokerage firm located in Austin, Texas. [Supplemental Exhibit A attached, Keller Williams website].

In this case, Cousins and Waldo, both REALTORS®, dispute whether Waldo was entitled to keep the entire \$500,000 commission for the sale of property that closed in early 2015. Cousins claims he is entitled to \$250,000. The Association takes no side in this dispute, but simply defends the process it used to arbitrate the dispute. The process is one used by the National Association of REALTORS® (NAR) and all of its members, nationwide, for decades. The ruling below orders several important expensive changes in the time tested, quick, fair, and inexpensive NAR arbitration process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review. Stokes v. Metro Life Ins. Co., 351 S.C. 606, 609-10, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002).

ARGUMENT

- I. **THE REVIEWING COURT BELOW ERRED IN VACATING THE ARBITRATION AWARD AND SUBSTITUTING ITS OWN JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE ARBITERS IN VIOLATION OF THE CONTRACT FOR ARBITRATION BETWEEN THE ARBITRATING PARTIES AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL AND STATE LAW.**

The reviewing court below erred in vacating the arbitration award because the narrow exceptions allowing a court to vacate an arbitration award were not met. When a case is

submitted to arbitration, arbiters decide issues of both law and fact. Once an award is entered, it is generally conclusive, and “courts will refuse to review the merits of an award.” Gissel v. Hart, 383 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). A court can properly vacate an award only if the arbiter “exceeds his or her powers and/or manifestly disregards or perversely misconstrues the law.” Id.; S.C. Code § 15-48-130.¹ “Judicial review of an arbitration award is limited in scope.” White v. Preferred Research, Inc., 315 S.C. 209, 212, 432 S.E.2d 506, 508 (Ct. App. 2003).

Arbiters exceed their powers only if the arbitrated issue is not within the scope of the arbitration agreement. Harris v. Bennett, 332 S.C. 238, 244, 503 S.E.2d 782, 785 (Ct. App. 1998). For example, if an arbiter awards punitive damages when the agreement expressly excludes them, the arbiter has exceeded his or her powers. But “[f]actual and legal errors by arbitrators do not constitute an abuse of powers, and a court is not required to review the merits of a decision so long as the arbitrators do not exceed their powers.” Gissel at 242, 676 S.E.2d at 324.

“Manifest disregard for the law” as a basis for vacating an arbitration award does not appear in either the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act nor in the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). Courts created the manifest disregard doctrine adding to the statutes and, therefore, courts apply it very narrowly under both the Uniform Arbitration Act and the FAA. House v. Vance Ford-Lincoln-Mercury Inc., 328 P.3d 1239, 1247 (Ok. App. 2014) (applying FAA); Home Owners Management Enterprises, Inc. v. Dean, 230 S.W.3d 766, 768-69 (Tex. App. 2007) (in a

¹ A court will also vacate an award if (1) the award was procured by corruption, fraud, or undue means; (2) the arbiters were unfairly biased; (3) the arbiters refused to postpone the hearing despite due cause; or (4) there was no actual arbitration agreement. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130. But, Respondent Waldo has not raised these issues to the reviewing court below.

case under Texas Uniform Arbitration Act related to sale of real property, citing federal law that manifest disregard is a “very narrow standard or review”).

As to a manifest disregard of the law, a party must show “something beyond a mere error in construing or applying the law.” Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). “Even a ‘clearly erroneous interpretation of the contract’ cannot be disturbed.” Id. The focus is on the conduct of the arbiter, and setting aside an award on this basis requires proof that “the arbitrator knew of the governing principle yet refused to apply it.” Id. (emphasis added). Further, “the governing law ignored by the arbitrator must be well defined, explicit, and clearly applicable.” Id.

Under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), similar to South Carolina law, “[r]eview of an arbitrator’s award is severely circumscribed.” Apex Plumbing Supply, Inc. v. U.S. Supply Co., Inc., 142 F.3d 188, 193 (4th Cir. 1998). “Indeed, the scope of review of an arbitrator’s valuation decision is among the narrowest known at law because to allow full scrutiny of such awards would frustrate the purpose of having arbitration at all—the quick resolution of disputes and the avoidance of the expense and delay associated with litigation.” Id. To vacate an award under the FAA, an applicant must show that the arbiter manifestly disregarded the law; the award was procured by fraud or corruption; the arbiter was partial or corrupt; the arbiters were guilty of misconduct; or the arbiters “exceeded their powers, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made.” Id.; 9 U.S.C. § 10.

The burden on the applicant seeking to vacate an award is “heavy.” MCI Constructors, LLC v. City of Greensboro, 610 F.3d 849, 857 (4th Cir. 2010). As a matter of law, “neither

misinterpretation of a contract nor an error of law constitutes a ground on which an award may be vacated.” Id. at 861. So long as there is an arguable basis for the arbiter’s decision, it should be upheld. Id. at 862.

Thus, the analysis that a court uses for determining whether to vacate a federal arbitration award is largely the same analysis used under South Carolina law. Merely misapplying the law is not enough to vacate an award.

Appellant Cousins and Respondent Waldo arbitrated their broker-versus-broker dispute on February 2, 2016 before a panel of five Association arbiters. After reviewing the evidence and hearing arguments, the panel found in favor of Cousins and awarded him \$250,000, which was half of the \$500,000 commission. [R. p. 18]. Waldo then appealed to the Association’s Procedural Review Hearing Tribunal, which affirmed the award on May 2, 2016. [R. p. 19].

There is no evidence before the court below that the dispute was outside the arbitration agreement, nor is there any evidence that the arbitration panel exceeded the authority provided in its Code of Ethics. Indeed, Waldo admitted at the hearing that the hearing had been conducted fairly, and that he had had an opportunity to testify, present evidence and witnesses, and cross-examine any hostile witnesses. [R. p. 409, line 13 – p. 410, line 8].

Further, as argued in detail in the sections below, there was no evidence before the court below that the arbiters manifestly disregarded the law. Because there was no evidence before the court below that the arbiters exceeded his or her powers and/or manifestly disregarded or perversely misconstrued the law, the court had no basis to overturn the decision of the arbiters. Gissel v. Hart, 383 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009).

The Court below went through a detailed analysis of statutes meant to protect consumers contracting with REALTORS® to reach a conclusion having nothing to do with the facts of the relationship and actions between the REALTORS®. The very analysis considered by the Master-in-Equity shows that at most, the arbiter made a legal mistake, while doing equity between the cooperative brokers. Such a result is not “manifest disregard” nor “perverse application.” Accordingly, the lower court’s order vacating the arbitral award was made in error and should be reversed.

II. THE REVIEWING COURT BELOW ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE ARBITERS FAILING TO APPLY A REAL ESTATE STATUTE PROTECTING CLIENTS OF REALTORS® BY REQUIRING THE CLIENT TO SIGN ANY COMMISSION AGREEMENT, WHEN THE REALTORS® EXCHANGED WRITTEN EMAIL REGARDING A SUB-AGENCY AND COMMISSION AND HAD A COURSE OF DEALING WHERE A COMMISSION HAD BEEN SPLIT IN A PRIOR, SIMILAR TRANSACTION, MET THE EXTRAORDINARY STANDARD OF A MANIFEST DISREGARD OF THE LAW.

To establish a manifest disregard of the law, a party must show “something beyond a mere error in construing or applying the law.” Gissel v. Hart at 241, 676 S.E.2d at 323. “Even a ‘clearly erroneous interpretation of the contract’ cannot be disturbed.” Id. The focus is on the conduct of the arbiter, and setting aside an award on this basis requires proof that “the arbitrator knew of the governing principle yet refused to apply it.” Id. (emphasis added). Further, “the governing law ignored by the arbitrator must be well defined, explicit, and clearly applicable.” Id. In order to convince this Court to vacate the award on this narrow common law ground, there must be a showing that the arbiters knew of a controlling legal principle and purposefully ignored it. Harris v. Bennett, 332 S.C. 238, 246, 503 S.E.2d 782, 787 (Ct. App. 1998). If there is a legal argument supporting the award, then it cannot be a “manifest disregard” so long as the argument is “barely colorable.” Id. South Carolina’s interpretation of

the act is consistent with those of sister states. Groceman v. Pulte Homes Corp., 53 S.W.3d 599, 602 (Mo. App. 2001) (Party moving to vacate bears heavy burden of demonstrating arbiter knew of and correctly stated the controlling legal rule and then ignored it); Chrobak v. Edward D. Jones & Co., 46 Ark. App. 105, 112, 878 S.W.2d 760, 763 (1994) (Party seeking to vacate cannot simply complain that award violates law, but must specifically show arbiter knew the law and expressly ignored it).

Here, the court below relied on a statute that protects real estate sellers and does not apply to relationships between REALTORS®. The statute states:

For all real estate transactions, no agency relationship between a buyer, seller, landlord, or tenant and a brokerage company and its affiliated licensees exists **unless the buyer, seller, landlord, or tenant and the brokerage company and its affiliated licenses agree, in writing, to the agency relationship.** No type of agency relationship may be assumed by a buyer, seller, landlord, tenant, or licensee or created orally or by implication.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-139(G) (emphasis added). Thus, the “governing law” cited by the court below is not “well defined, explicit and clearly applicable” so as to support the common law “manifest disregard” exception to confirming the arbitration award. The statute on its face does not apply to the transaction in arbitration—a dispute between brokers/licensees over a commission.

The circuit court’s dismissal of Cousins’s claims against National Golf Management based on § 40-57-139(G) makes sense because the statute states that, between broker and seller, a written agreement is required. Real estate agents owe a fiduciary duty to their clients. Darby v. Furman Co., Inc., 334 S.C. 343, 346, 513 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1999). The statute created a requirement that this fiduciary relationship be in writing. But the statute does not specifically address claims between brokers. The statute states that an agency relationship between

“buyer, seller, landlord, or tenant,” on one hand, and a “brokerage company and its affiliated licensees,” on the other hand, requires a written agreement. The statute does not address agreements between brokers to share a commission. The circuit court in Founders Five relied solely on this statute in making its decision.

The distinction is important because the arbitration between Cousins and Waldo was not a dispute between a broker and a seller, but rather a dispute between broker and broker. Section 40-57-139(G), therefore, did not apply. This distinction is crucial, because the purpose of the statutory scheme in S.C. Code Ann § 40-57-5 et seq. and the Real Estate Commission it created is “to protect the public’s interest when involved in real estate transactions.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-5. The public is, of course, the buyers and sellers who should be protected from unscrupulous agents, who owe them fiduciary duties. To protect the public, the statutory scheme requires written agreements between brokers and the public. But it is silent regarding agreements between agents where buyers or sellers are not affected. If Appellant Cousins were in a dispute with the buyer or seller, the lower court’s reasoning might have been correct. In this case, it is not.

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