STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Common Pleas

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe, Master-In-Equity

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2019

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001590 **SC Court of Appeals**

Andrew Waldo; Jane Zheng; and SC Coast Properties, LLC d/b/a
Keller Williams Realty Respondents

v.

Michael Cousins; Founders Five, LLC d/b/a Sperry Van Ness Founders
Group; and South Carolina Association of REALTORS Appellants,

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANT SOUTH
CAROLINA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS**

DOUGLAS M. ZAYICEK
HOLLY M. LUSK
BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.
Post Office Box 357

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

³¹ S.C. Code § 40-57-135(D)(4)(d) provides that the buyer’s representation agreement *must be in writing and must set forth “an explanation of how compensation will be divided among participating or cooperating brokers.”* (emphasis added).

³² (See App. Association’s Brief, p. 10) (“The very analysis considered by the Master-in-Equity shows that at most, the arbiter made a legal mistake, while doing equity being the cooperative brokers.”).

knew of a controlling legal principle and purposefully ignored it.” (App. Association’s Brief, p. 10). This is exactly what occurred in this matter. Rather than applying the aforementioned clearly applicable, controlling South Carolina law, the Panel chose to wholly disregard the law by expressly advising the parties that although there was a lot of discussion about agency and the law requiring written agreements it was going to place its focus on a concept not allowed pursuant to South Carolina law.³³ As stated in Respondents’ Notice of Appeal, the Arbitration Panel’s award of a commission to Cousins “now requires a buyer/seller to pay a commission to an agent/broker in which it has no knowledge of, and never agreed to compensate, all directly contrary to state law.” (See R. pp. 368-369, R. pp. 400, 14-17, R. pp. 401-404).

C. The Circuit Court Properly Found That The January 11, 2016 Order Was Binding On Realtor Appellants And That The Law of the Case Doctrine and the Doctrines of Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel Govern This Action.

Appellant Association argues that there is no basis for applying res judicata or collateral estoppel to the arbitration proceeding. (App. Association Brief, pp. 15-18). In support thereof, Association reiterates that because Respondent Waldo initiated the arbitration proceedings,³⁴ Respondents are prohibited from a judicial review of the arbitration award. The Association relies upon Garrell v. Blanton, 316 S.C. 186, 447 S.E.2d 840 (1994) for the premise that “a party who voluntarily participates in arbitration waves any objection to the arbitration of a commission dispute.” (App. Association Brief, p. 15). Not only does this premise directly contradict South Carolina law, which provides a number of grounds upon which an arbitration may be vacated,³⁵ it

³³ “Prior to closing statements...I have, as Chair, a couple of questions...there has been discussion from the complainant about representation, who represents who in the transaction, what was in writing and I just want to remind all the parties here, including the Panel, that we are not at a grievance hearing. We are at an arbitration hearing. We’re here to talk about the money in dispute. And I understand the conversation. What we need to focus on is the procuring cause.” (Audio of Arbitration Panel Hearing, 02:00:55-02:01:45).

³⁴ Noteworthy, the Association continues to assert that Respondent Waldo voluntarily initiated arbitration proceedings; however, Respondent Waldo simply complied with what the Association alleges is a *mandatory* arbitration policy. (emphasis added).

³⁵ See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130 (listing the grounds upon which an arbitration award may be vacated), Gissel v.

is also a gross mischaracterization of the South Carolina Supreme Court's holding in the Garrell case.

The Garrell case concerned a real estate commission dispute between two realtor parties. 316 S.C. at 187, 447 S.E.2d at 840. In Garrell, Blanton, the realtor seeking a portion of the commission, initiated arbitration proceedings. 316 S.C. at 187-88, 447 S.E.2d at 840-41. The opposing party, Garrell, was informed arbitration was mandatory because both realtors were members of the Horry County Board of Realtors. 316 S.C. at 188, 447 S.E.2d at 841. However, Garrell later learned that due to a lapse in Blanton's membership with the Horry County Board of Realtors, the arbitration proceeding may not have been mandatory. Id. Subsequent to the conclusion of the arbitration proceeding, Garrell challenged the arbitration on the basis that the irregularities in Blanton's Horry County Board of Realtors membership status rose to the level of fraud or undue means, requiring the award be set aside. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court stated that Garrell had waived any objection to proceeding with arbitration because he had an opportunity to discover Blanton's membership status prior to arbitration, the questions concerning Blanton's status arose at the arbitration hearing, and Garrell did not object at that time. Id. The Supreme Court thus concluded that *because "Garrell does not contend that the award itself was fraudulent or unfair, but, rather, contests the arbitration itself[,] [h]e has not established fraud or undue means" within the meaning of the SC UAA's statute listing grounds for vacating an arbitration award. Id. (emphasis added).* Therefore, directly contrary to what the Association has argued, the holding in the Garrell case does **not prohibit** any party who voluntarily participates in an arbitration from judicial review of an arbitration award. (emphasis added). Rather, the Court in Garrell simply found that the grounds upon which Garrell challenged the proceeding did not fall

Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 676 S.E.2d 320 (2009) (setting forth the standard for vacating award pursuant to an arbitrator's manifest disregard of the law).

within South Carolina's grounds for vacating an arbitration award. Id. Based upon the foregoing, the Garrell case has no relevance to the matter at issue here.

In support of its argument that the Circuit Court's January 11, 2016 Order does not apply to the arbitration proceeding, the Association also reiterates its argument that South Carolina's statutory scheme does not apply to disputes between brokers; and asserts that the Circuit Court's January 11, 2016 Order relied solely upon South Carolina Code Annotated Section 40-57-139(G) in its holding. (App. Association's Brief, pp. 15-16). Both of these assertions are incorrect. As outlined in great detail hereinabove, South Carolina's statutory scheme with regard to real estate transactions expressly addresses broker-to-broker situations by providing that there must be a written agreement specifying how a commission is to be split between "cooperating brokers,"³⁶ and by including an entire section requiring that clients consent to and have knowledge of any co-broker or dual agency relationships between brokers. See S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-137, Subsections (E), (J), and (M); see also supra Section I(B)(1)(ii), pp. 19-20. Moreover, the holding in Circuit Court's January 11, 2016 Order is not limited to solely an analysis of South Carolina Code Annotated Section 40-57-139(G). (See R. pp. 14-17). Rather, the Order expressly cites to the entire statutory scheme, S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-5, eq. seq., and proceeds to review multiple sections within the statutory scheme, including S.C. Code Ann § 40-57-135(D)(4), which outlines the requirements for a listing agreement, including an explanation of commission splits between cooperating brokers. (R. pp. 15-16).

Directly applicable to the arbitration proceedings, the January 11, 2016 Order also explicitly holds that South Carolina's overhauled statutory scheme *prohibits oral or implied*

³⁶ "A listing or buyer's representation agreement must be in writing and must set forth all material terms of the parties' agency relationship including, but not limited to...***an explanation of how compensation will be divided among participating or cooperating brokers, if applicable.***" S.C. Code Ann. § 40-57-135(D)(4)(d) (emphasis added).

commission agreements and that any common law to the contrary is superseded by the statutory scheme. (R. pp. 15-16) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).³⁷ For this reason, as the Circuit Court discusses in its January 11, 2016 Order, case law decided prior to the statutory scheme’s overhaul cannot be applied to this matter, as the courts would not reach the same decision today, in light of South Carolina statutory law. (*Id.*). This is why none of the Appellants have been able to provide any case law holding in favor of an oral or implied commission split agreement between brokers that *post-dates* the overhaul of South Carolina Code Section 40-57-5, et. seq.

Contrary to the Association’s arguments, it is beyond question that an Order that has not been appealed is, in fact, the law of the case. See, e.g., Shirley’s Iron Workers, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case...”), ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (“This unappealed ruling is the law of the case...”). In light of the Circuit Court’s January 11, 2016 Order, by proceeding with the arbitration and by the Arbitration Panel Chairman expressly stating the agency issue was irrelevant to its decision, the Association’s Arbitration Panel allowed an impermissible collateral attack on a Circuit Court Order. See, e.g., Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (holding that a party may not seek alternate relief from an unappealed order of the circuit court).

The January 11, 2016 Order is not limited in any way to commissions sought against “sellers” of real property, as the Association implies in their argument. As stated above, the

³⁷ The Association again relies upon Hackler v. Earl Wiegand Real Estate, Inc. 295 S.C. 396, 368 S.E.2d 686 (Ct. App. 1988) in support of its assertion that courts recognize an oral or implied commission split agreement between brokers. (App. Association’s Brief, p. 16). For the reasons discussed in detail hereinabove, i.e. that the Hackler case was decided prior to the overhaul of South Carolina’s statutory scheme with regard to real estate transactions in the state, the Hackler case is not applicable to this matter. (See supra Section I(B)(1)(iii)).

January 11, 2016 Order holds that Appellant Cousins is not entitled to a commission in the absence of a written agreement. (R. pp. 15-16). The findings and conclusions in the January 11, 2016 Order are not limited to only Cousins as an alleged representative of the Seller in this transaction. (*Id.*). The only reason the word “seller” even appears in the January 11, 2016 Order is because Cousins alleged that who he represented in his Affidavit. The order simply bars Cousins from seeking a commission from *anyone involved in the underlying transaction in the absence of a written agreement.* (*Id.*) (emphasis added).

Here, the doctrine of res judicata bars the Realtor Appellants from raising issues which were adjudicated in Realtor Appellants’ Circuit Court action and any issues which might have been raised in that action. See Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999). To establish res judicata, the following elements must be shown: “(1) The parties must be the same *or their privities*; (2) the subject matter must be the same; and (3) while generally the precise point must be ruled, yet where the parties are the same or are in privity the judgment is an absolute bar not only of what was decided but of what might have been decided.” Nunnery, 289 S.C. at 209, 345 S.E.2d at 743 (emphasis added). “Where an action has been so dismissed [with prejudice], the judgment operates, in a subsequent action involving the same subject matter, ‘so as to conclusively settle not only all matters litigated in the earlier proceedings, but also all matters which might have been litigated therein.’” *Id.* (internal citations omitted). Therefore, completely contrary to the Association’s argument, the parties do not have to be identical in two proceedings for res judicata to apply. Rather, the party raising res judicata needs only to be in privity as to the subject matter previously decided. See Yelsen Land Company, Inc. v. The State of South Carolina, et. al., 397 S.C. 15, 723 S.E.2d 592 (2012), Nunnery v. Brantley Constr. Co., 289 S.C. 205, 209, 345 S.E.2d 740, 742-43 (Ct. App. 1986). The law as it

relates to privity is, in pertinent part, as follows: “For purpose of res judicata, however, the concept of privity rests *not on the relationship between the parties asserting it, but rather on each party’s relationship to the subject matter of the litigation.*” Yelsen, 397 S.C. 15, 22, 723 S.E.2d 592, 596 (emphasis added).

Likewise, collateral estoppel (i.e. issue preclusion) “prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same.” Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. DOT, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (internal citations omitted). The party asserting collateral estoppel must demonstrate that the issue in the present matter was litigated in the prior action, directly determined in the prior action, and necessary to support the prior judgment. Id. (internal citations omitted). Traditionally, the use of a collateral estoppel required “mutuality of parties to bar relitigation;” however “modern courts recognize the mutuality requirement is not necessarily for the application of collateral estoppel where the party against whom estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to previously litigate the issues.” Id. (internal citations omitted).

Here, the issue is Realtor Appellants’ right to a commission in a thirteen golf course transaction in which Cousins admits not having any written representation agreement and admits knowing nothing about until shortly before closing, and where the Seller, Buyers, and Buyer’s exclusive agent, all vehemently deny Cousins’ involvement and right to a commission. Realtor Appellants chose to initiate a Circuit Court action against the Seller, Buyers, and Respondents. The Circuit Court’s January 11, 2016 explicitly holds that Realtor Appellants are not entitled to a commission in the absence of a written agreement, *period*. (R. pp. 14-17). The January 11, 2016 also clearly and expressly holds that any common law regarding oral or implied commission split agreements is superseded by South Carolina statutory law. (Id.). These holdings directly govern

the very issues addressed in arbitration.³⁸ Therefore, the “law of the case” doctrine, res judica, and collateral estoppel all apply to anyone who challenges Cousins’ right to a commission in the absence of a written agreement in the underlying transaction, regardless of the forum (Circuit Court, Master-In-Equity, or arbitration).³⁹

D. The Circuit Court Did Not Err In Holding That Respondents Were Substantially Prejudiced By Appellant Association’s Arbitration Panel’s Failure to Set Forth Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law In Its Award, Where Its Own Policies And Procedures Require Such Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The Association substantially prejudiced Appellants by failing to abide by South Carolina statutory law and by failing to follow its Policy of the South Carolina Realtors Governing State Professional Standards Procedure (hereinafter the “Policy”). According to the Association’s own Policy, *“Association Counsel, if present, shall prepare for review of the Panel Chairman and/or the President any statement of facts or a summary of the reasons supporting any decision made by the Panel. The decision is made by the Panel, not the Association Counsel.”* (R. p. 311) (emphasis added). Therefore, the Association, itself, requires its counsel to prepare a statement of facts or summary of reasons supporting an arbitration panel decision.⁴⁰ *Id.* Likewise, South Carolina statutory law requires the Arbitration Panel *to decide questions of law and fact.* See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-180 (emphasis added). Therefore, not only do the Association’s own policies

³⁸ Also noteworthy, in its argument against the application of the “law of the case” doctrine, res judicata, and collateral estoppel, the Association completely ignores the concept of judicial review. This is yet another attempt by the Association to place its arbitration process beyond judicial review. Simply because arbitration is favored within the state does not mean that arbitrators can wholly disregard South Carolina law in making a decision, as the Association would have this Court believe. If this were the case, the manifest disregard standard of vacating an award would not exist. Therefore, the Association’s arguments that enforcing the “law of the case” doctrine, res judicata, and collateral estoppel is somehow against public policy must fail.

³⁹ The August 16, 2018 Order also states that Cousins is barred by judicial estoppel from alleged he represented anyone but the Seller in the underlying transaction. The Association does not appear to challenge this holding.

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